FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 3/23/2018 1:34 PM

95654-5

No. 75665-6-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### MICHELLE MERCERI, Petitioner,

v.

DEUTSCHE BANK AG a/k/a DEUTSCHE BANK doing business in the United States as DEUTSCHE BANK USA, and as DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, a national banking association, as trustee for holders of the BCAP LLC Trust 2007-AA2, Respondent

\_\_\_\_

# PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Gordon Arthur Woodley, WSBA # 7783 Woodley Law Box 53043 Bellevue, WA 98015 (425) 802-1400

#### II. Identity of Petitioner

The Petitioner is Michelle Merceri ("Ms. Merceri"), the Plaintiff who obtained a partial summary judgment ruling that Deutsche Bank was time-barred from pursuing foreclosure, as a matter of law.

#### III. Citation to Court of Appeals Decisions

Ms. Merceri seeks review of Division One's published Opinion, filed on January 22, 2018, reversing the trial court ("Opinion," Appendix 1) and the non-unanimous Order filed on February 21, 2018 denying Ms. Merceri's Motion for Reconsideration, ("Order," Appendix 2.)

#### **IV.** Issues Presented for Review

A. Does Division One's published Opinion conflicts with longstanding Supreme Court precedent in Spokane County v. Prescott; Hinchman v. Anderson, Jones v. Jacobsen, Del Guzzi v. Global Northwest, Hazel v. Van Beek, and Inland Empire v. W. Sur. Co.?

- B. Does Division One's published Opinion conflict with its own decision in *Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*?
- C. Does Division One's published Opinion violate the Separation of Powers doctrine of the Washington Constitution and usurp the Legislature's Article II authority by sub silentio amending the tolling statute, RCW 4.16.230, and expanding the six-year statute of limitations to eight years by adding the entire time the debtor's property was in Chapter 7 bankruptcy? Does the Opinion violate Federal Preemption under the United States' Constitution where the Opinion nullifies the lienholder's protections to remove the bankruptcy stay under 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(2)?
- D. Does the Opinion upset the Legislature's delicate balance of interests, presenting an issue of substantial public interest?<sup>1</sup>

#### V. Summary of Argument

Review should be accepted because Division One:

- 1. Failed to adhere to Supreme Court precedent in *Spokane County* v. *Prescott*; *Hinchman v. Anderson*, *Jones v. Jacobsen*, *Del Guzzi v. Global Northwest*, *Hazel v. Van Beek*, and *Inland Empire v. W. Sur. Co.* which do not permit tolling under RCW 4.16.230 when lienholder Deutsche Bank had available remedies and failed to use them. RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- Conflicts with Division One's own decision in Watson v.
   Northwest Trustee Services. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ms. Merceri may need to add the issue of attorneys' fees. RAP 2.4 (g). As of submission of this Petition, Division One has not yet ruled on Deutsche Bank's application for attorneys' fees for this interlocutory review, or Ms. Merceri's objection under *Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft*, 165 Wn.2d 481, 489, 200 P.3d 683 (2009).

- 3. Violates Washington Constitution's Separation of Powers and usurps the Legislature's Article II authority by *sub silentio* amending the tolling statute, RCW 4.16.230, expanding the sixyear statute of limitations to eight years by adding the entire time the debtor's property was in Chapter 7 bankruptcy, and violating Federal Preemption under the United States' Constitution by nullifying lienholders' protections to remove a bankruptcy stay under 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(2). RAP 13.4(b)(3)
- 4. Upsets the legislative balance of protections on both the state level in RCW 4.16.040 (six-year statute of limitations), RCW 4.16.230 (tolling), RCW 7.28.300 (removing outlawed lien) and RCW 61.24.130 (Deeds of Trust Act lienholder remedies), and on the federal level, nullifying the lienholder protections in 11 U.S.C. 362§ (d)(2). RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Deutsche Bank chose not to lift the automatic stay to continue its 2010 nonjudicial foreclosure and chose not to pursue judicial foreclosure in the 19 months after the Chapter 7 automatic stay was lifted by court order on December 4, 2012. Then, in 2016, two years after the statute of limitations had already expired, Deutsche Bank sought leave to amend its Answer to raise, for the first time, judicial foreclosure.

Judge Oishi followed the law and denied the amendment. He ruled

that foreclosure was time barred, being more than six years from the 2008 default/acceleration of the debt. Deutsche Bank then sought interlocutory on the following

#### TRIAL COURT'S RAP 2.3(b)(4) CERTIFIED QUESTION:

Even though 11 U.S.C. 108 does not, itself, toll a state statute of limitations, is RCW 4.16.230 a state statute incorporated into section 108(c)(1) to toll the statute of limitations during a bankruptcy stay? *Cf. Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wn.2d 45, 64-66, 954 P.2d 1301 (1998). CP 732.

Without statutory analysis, a three-judge panel from Division One usurped the Legislature's Article II authority, violated federal preemption, and upended Supreme Court's precedent:

- Spokane County v. Prescott, 19 Wash. 418, 424, 53 P. 661 (1898)

  (a litigant cannot enlarge the statute of limitations by its own delinquency);
- *Jones v. Jacobsen*, 45 Wn.2d 265, 271, 273 P.2d 979 (1954) (a party cannot "suspend indefinitely" the running of the statute of limitations by failing to take action when the power to proceed lies with that party);
- Del Guzzi Const. Co., Inc. v. Global Northwest, Ltd., Inc., 105
   Wn.2d 878, 719 P.2d 120 (1986) (a party who failed to preserve its claim in superior court, despite knowing of its right to do so, was not entitled to any tolling); and

Hazel v. Van Beek, 135 Wn.2d 45, 954 P.2d 1301 (1998).
(11 U.S.C. § 108(c) does not provide tolling where, as here, the statute of limitations did not run during bankruptcy and the lienholder sat on its rights.)

#### VI. Statement of the Case

Deutsche Bank could have commenced a judicial action to foreclose its interest on Ms. Merceri's home at any time within the six-year statute of limitations, beginning in June 2008, when she was unable to make the \$14,291.67 interest-only payments on a home that was by-then underwater, upon the collapse of the housing market. CP 46 ¶ 3(B); CP 283 ¶ 8.3.² Under federal bankruptcy, 11 U.S.C. § 362 (d)(2), secured creditors, like Deutsche Bank, have the right to lift the bankruptcy stay to foreclose on an "underwater" property. Deutsche Bank made no attempt to lift the bankruptcy stay at any time after the Chapter 7 bankruptcy petition was filed on November 17, 2010, CP 254, ¶ 1.3. Nor did it attempt to judicially foreclose when the bankruptcy trustee released the home as an asset of the bankruptcy estate on December 4, 2012. CP 125. The statute of limitations did not expire during Ms. Merceri's bankruptcy. Deutsche Bank had nineteen more months to judicially foreclose before the six-year statute of

<sup>2</sup> Deutsche Bank states "there is no equity in the property"); CP 337  $\P$  8 "Ms. Merceri conceded in the [bankruptcy] Adversary Proceeding that the debt exceeds the value of her house." The housing market had collapsed. CP 005  $\P$  3.9.

limitations expired in 2014. This chronology sets forth important dates:

Date	Event
06-01-2008	Default on 2006 Countrywide adjustable rate interest-only loan. CP 35, ¶6
08-17-2008	Defaulted loan fully accelerated. CP 259
11-17-2010	Debtor Ms. Merceri filed Chapter 7 bankruptcy with its stay being liftable by lienholder Deutsche Bank. CP 254, ¶1.3.
01-17-2012	Deutsche Bank's servicer, Recontrust, records discontinuance of foreclosure sale. <i>See</i> fn. 10, <i>infra</i> .
12-04-2012	Deutsche Bank did not lift the stay during the last two years. Home was released as Chapter 7 asset by bankruptcy trustee. CP 125. Deutsche Bank's lien survives bankruptcy.
08-18-2014	RCW 4.16.040 6-year statute of limitations expired.
	* * * * * * *
12-02-2015	Ms. Merceri sued Deutsche Bank over the deed of trust lien on her home. CP 3
02-08-2016	Deutsche Bank Filed Answer and did not include any judicial foreclosure claim. CP 271, 279, 285
06-29-2016	Judge Oishi denied Deutsche's amendment. CP 551
06-30-2016	On cross motions for partial summary judgment: Judge Oishi ruled that Deutche Bank was time barred from raising foreclosure, years after the six- year statute of limitations had expired. CP 553
08-29-2016	Judge Oishi certified the tolling question. CP 118

Deutsche Bank chose not to pursue its judicial foreclosure remedy until June 2016 (CP 315), long after the statute of limitations had run. The trial court ruled that neither bankruptcy law, 11 U.S.C. § 108(c), applied by *Hazel v. Van Beek*, nor the tolling statute, RCW 4.16.230, provided any

tolling under these circumstances. CP 553-554,  $\P$  3; CP 715,  $\P$  2.<sup>3</sup> Deutsche Bank was time-barred from foreclosing on the home after it allowed the passage of almost eight years from the 2008 default/acceleration. *Id*.

Deutsche Bank sought discretionary review. COA Dkt., Aug. 16, 2016. The trial court certified the question (*quoted* above) under RAP 2.3(b)(4). A commissioner granted discretionary review of this interlocutory decision and a Division One panel reversed the trial court on January 22, 2018, ruling that the liftable automatic bankruptcy stay was a "statutory prohibition" under RCW 4.16.230; the panel's Opinion tolled the statute of limitations for the duration of the bankruptcy stay.

Reconsideration was denied by a non-unanimous order of the panel on February 21, 2018. Ms. Merceri timely petitions for review.

#### VII. Why Review Should Be Accepted

A. Review Should Be Accepted Under RAP 13.4(B)(1) Because Division One's Published Opinion Conflicts With Long-Standing Supreme Court Precedent in Spokane County v. Prescott; Jones v. Jacobsen, Del Guzzi v. Global Northwest, Hazel v. Van Beek, and Inland Empire v. W. Sur. Co.

Under Supreme Court precedent, which has guided and informed practitioners for a hundred years, tolling has never been allowed under RCW 4.16.230 when a statute like 11 U.S.C. § 362 (d)(2) allowed a party

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court briefly elaborated on its reasoning when it denied Deutsche Bank's motion to reconsider.

to lift the impediment with a simple motion. *See*, e.g. *Spokane County v. Prescott*, 19 Wash. at 424.

The analysis of RCW 4.16.230 in this case centers on the phrases "commencement of an action" and "statutory prohibition":

When the commencement of an action is stayed by injunction or a statutory prohibition, the time of the continuance of the injunction or prohibition shall not be a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action.

Division One did not perform the required plain language statutory analysis of RCW 4.16.040, RCW 4.16.230, RCW 61.24.130, RCW 7.28.300, and 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(2). In *Inland Empire Dry Wall Supply Co.* v. W. Sur. Co., 189 Wn.2d 840, ¶ 6, 408 P.3d 691 (Jan. 18, 2018) (en banc), this Court unanimously reiterated this duty:

Where a "statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Such meaning "is discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question, " and if the statute remains susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning, this court resorts to aids of construction, including legislative history. *Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d at 11, 12.

Division One erroneously applied RCW 4.16.230 to the "continuation" of Deutsche Bank's 2010 nonjudicial foreclosure (Op. Br. pg. 5<sup>4</sup>), even though

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "The statutory bankruptcy stay halted the trustee's sale and enjoined Deutsche from proceeding with any action to enforce its defaulted loan."

RCW 4.16.230 only applies to the "commencement" of a judicial "action.", not to the "continuation" of a nonjudicial foreclosure.<sup>5</sup> In lieu of disciplined statutory and precedential analysis, the Division One panel concluded that even though the stay was liftable, it was a "statutory prohibition" under RCW 4.16.230. Opinion at 1.6

1) Review Should Be Accepted Under RAP 13.4(B)(1) Because the Opinion Conflicts With Supreme Court Authority Analyzing Tolling Under RCW 4.16.230.

This Court has long disallowed tolling under RCW 4.16.230, where a party has a remedy but fails to take it or where it has a choice of remedies. In *Spokane County v. Prescott*, 19 Wash. 418, 424, 426, 53 P. 661 (1898), the Court rejected plaintiff's contention that it was entitled to tolling:

The weight of authority and reason seems to be that when the respondent had the option at any time to obtain leave of court to bring its action, and did not ask for such leave, it

An unresolved issue in this appeal is whether there is any tolling for incomplete nonjudicial foreclosure attempts. Opinion, fn. 7. The Legislature did not provide for such tolling in the DTA, RCW 61.24. Lienholders' like Deutsche Bank's have recently cited to Division One's *Bingham v. Lechner* decision for the proposition that tolling applies to an incomplete nonjudicial foreclosure (even where the parties do not agree to any tolling). 111 Wn. App. 118, 45 P.3d 562 (Div. 1, 2002), *review denied*, 149 Wn.2d 1018, 72 P.3d 761 (2003) (court denied tolling to a lienholder; public policy does not support indefinite tolling; parties agreed tolling applied to prior nonjudicial foreclosure attempt.) Because the parties agreed, *Bingham* did not conduct the required statutory analysis of RCW 4.16.170, RCW 4.16.230, CR 2, and CR 3, failed to explain *why* a lienholder should receive tolling for an incomplete nonjudicial foreclosure, and should not be cited in cases where the parties did *not* agree that tolling applied. *See Heintz v. U.S. Bank*, No. 76297-4-I, slip op. at 5-6 (Div. 1, Jan. 16, 2018), unpublished.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In one footnote, the Opinion summarily disposed of eight of the 10 Supreme Court cases directly applying the phrase "statutory prohibition" in RCW 4.16.230. Opinion, fn. 5. Division One did not address the holdings of these cases.

cannot enlarge the statute of limitations by its own delinquency.

In *Hinchman v. Anderson*, 32 Wash. 198, 206, 72 P. 1018 (1903), *cited* with approval on a related issue in *Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn.App. 166, 367 P.3d 600 (2016), this Court held that even where the plain language of Washington's single action statute literally "prohibited" a creditor from pursuing a second simultaneous action to collect on a mortgage, such was not a "statutory prohibition" under the verbatim predecessor of RCW 4.16.230: "Where a party has a choice of remedies and makes his election, the statute does not cease to run as to other remedies." *Hinchman*, at 207. Here, Deutsche Bank had a choice to lift the stay to continue its nonjudicial foreclosure but sat on its hands. Division One should not have given Deutsche Bank any tolling for that choice.

In Bennett v. Thorne, 36 Wash. 253, 269, 78 P. 936 (1904), this Court applied Spokane County v. Prescott to hold that

... the failure of a party to take the necessary steps to perfect his right of action, although such steps were conditions precedent to the right, [do] not prolong the statute[.]" because "it is not the policy of the law to put it within the power of a party to toll the statute of limitations."

In Douglas County v. Grant County, 98 Wash. 355, 167 P. 928 (1917), analyzing the verbatim predecessor of RCW 4.16.230, this Court held that a party's failure to take the necessary step of making demand, a prerequisite to filing suit, did not prolong the statute of limitations.

In Jones v. Jacobson, 45 Wn.2d 265, 271, 273 P.2d 979 (1954) this Court affirmed the longstanding and continuing rule laid out in *Spokane County, Bennett*, and *Douglas County*, explaining that where "the plaintiff has in its power at all times to do the act which fixes his right of action," a party cannot "suspend indefinitely the running of the statute of limitations by delaying the performance of the preliminary act . . ." *Id.*, at 271.

In *Del Guzzi Const. Co., Inc. v. Global Northwest, Ltd., Inc.*, 105 Wn.2d 878, 719 P.2d 120 (Wash. 1986), a tort action was time-barred and leave to amend the pleadings was denied, because "[t]here is no *statutory* or contractual *prohibition* which prevented Global from instituting an action at any time within the period prescribed by the statute of limitation" because they knew of facts that would have permitted them to proceed. Since the stay would have been lifted if Deutsche Bank had simply asked, Division One should have applied *Del Guzzi* to conclude that the stay was not a "statutory prohibition" under RCW 4.16.230, because the stay did not prevent Deutsche Bank from timely foreclosing its lien. Unfortunately, Division One's published opinion did not follow any of these Supreme Court precedents.

Instead, Division One disregarded binding Supreme Court precedent and based its decision on one inapposite case, *Seamans v. Walgren*, 82 Wn.2d 771, 514 P.2d 166 (1973). While *Seamans* correctly applied RCW

4.16.230 to the constitutional provision prohibiting service of process on a legislator during a legislative session, there is no provision in Art. II, Sec. 16 of the Washington State Constitution that would have permitted Seamans to lift the immunity clause to serve defendant Walgren. *Seamans* does not stand for the proposition that Deutsche Bank was "prohibited" from foreclosing, by *its own conduct*, when it could have continued its foreclosure by lifting the automatic stay with a simple motion.

2) Review Should Be Accepted Under RAP 13.4(B)(1) Because Division One Abjured Supreme Court Authority in *Hazel v. Van Beek*.

In *Hazel v. Van Beek*, this Court adopted the majority view in the United States, that the state statute of limitations continued to run during the bankruptcy stay, saying:

By its terms, section 108 (c) does not toll any applicable statute of limitations period. Instead, the statute of limitations period continues to run. If the limitations period expires while the bankruptcy stay is in effect, then section 108(c) provides creditors with an extra thirty days to pursue a claim once the creditor receives notice that the bankruptcy stay has been lifted. See 11 U.S.C. § 108(c)(2).

Hazel v. Van Beek, 135 Wn.2d at 64-5.7 Hazel concluded:

Van Beek's 1984 bankruptcy petition did nothing to preclude Hazel from enforcing her judgment between August 1984 [when the bankruptcy was dismissed] and

(promissory note).

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In its majority/minority view discussion, *Hazel* relied on cases that did not involve a judicial lien. *Id.* at 64, *citing e.g. Rogers v. Corrosion Prods.*, *Inc.*, 42 F.3d 292, 296 (5th Cir. 1995)6 (negligence); *Thurman v. Tafoya*, 895 P.2d 1050, 1055 (Colo. 1995)

November 2, 1993, [when she filed suit], [so] we find no facts in this case which would permit us to equitably extend the life of her judgment. While we sympathize with her plight, this does not excuse her unjustifiable delay in executing the judgment against Van Beek.

*Id.*, at 66. Division One never applied the holding in *Hazel*.<sup>8</sup> It dismissed *Hazel* out of hand because *Hazel* involved enforcing a judicial lien, rather than enforcing a deed of trust lien. Opinion at 9.

3) Review Should Be Accepted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Because Division One Nullified Congress' 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(2) Lienholder Remedy.

Division One ignored the plain language of 11 U.S.C. § 362 (d)(2) and mistakenly determined that "creditors may not assert claims on property of the bankruptcy estate during the stay . . ." Opinion at 5. Section 362(d)(2) exists for the protection of the secured creditor:

On request of a party in interest and after notice and a hearing, the court shall grant relief from the stay provided under subsection (a) of this section, such as by terminating, annulling, modifying, or conditioning such stay—

- (2) with respect to a stay of an act against property under subsection (a) of this section, if—
  - (A) the debtor does not have an equity in such property; and
  - (B) such property is not necessary to an effective reorganization;

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Despite the fact that Deutsche Bank was the party seeking tolling under RCW 4.16.230, Deutsche Bank did not present to Judge Oishi the Supreme Court precedent denying tolling (i.e. *Spokane County v. Prescott, Jones v. Jacobsen, Hinchman v. Anderson*). Judge Oishi reached the proper result denying tolling and certified the question without being provided by Deutsche Bank the long history of Supreme Court precedent applying RCW 4.16.230.

Federal law is clear. "[W]hen both factors necessary for relief under section § 362(d)(2) are met 'the court *shall* grant relief [to lift the bankruptcy stay].'" *In re Indian Palms Associates*, 61 F.3d 197, 208 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1995). Sec. 362(d)(2) was enacted for creditors like Deutsche Bank, who began foreclosure before bankruptcy was filed:

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