FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/23/2018 3:19 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95654-5 Court of Appeals No. 75665-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE MERCERI, a single woman,

Petitioner,

VS.

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, a national banking association, as trustee for holders of the BCAP LLC Trust 2007-AA2, et al,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ann T. Marshall, WSBA No. 23533 ANGLIN FLEWELLING RASMUSSEN CAMPBELL & TRYTTEN LLP 701 Pike Street, Suite 1560 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone 206-264-5915 Attorneys for Appellant Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as trustee for holders of the BCAP LLC Trust 2007-AA2

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Merceri has not met the criteria required for a discretionary grant of review by this Court.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court.

In *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wn.2d 45 (1998), Hazel had obtained a judgment against Van Beek, and the judgment lien attached to Van Beek's property. Van Beek filed bankruptcy, and for a period of time, Hazel was precluded from enforcing her judgment lien due to the automatic stay. *Id.* at 48. The life of a judgment lien was at issue, under RCW 4.56 *et seq.*, for which no tolling statute existed. The Washington Supreme Court concluded only that 11 U.S.C. § 108(c) *itself* did not toll the statute of limitations.¹ The

¹ 11 U.S.C. § 108(c) provides a 30-day period in which to pursue any federal or state action following a bankruptcy stay if the statute

Court then denied tolling due to the bankruptcy stay because there was no tolling statute for judgment liens. In so doing, it held: "[i]t would be improper for us to write new exceptions into RCW 4.56.210. If the Legislature intended for tolling, it could have provided for it." *Id.* at 64. The Court further noted the "judgment life-span" is not "a normal statute of limitations." *Id.* at 61.

For statutes of limitation, the Legislature did intend tolling, and so provided, under RCW 4.16 *et seq.*, by enacting RCW 4.16.230. The Court of Appeals' decision in the present case does not conflict with the Court's decision in *Hazel*.

Neither does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with any of the other six Washington Supreme Court cases argued by Merceri.

of limitations expires while the stay is in effect. It allows tolling provided under state law. In *Pettibone v. Easley*, 935 F.2d 120, 121 (7th Cir. 1991), the court held that Illinois state law tolls the statute of limitations for the entirety of a bankruptcy proceeding: "Federal law assured the plaintiffs 30 days in which to pick up the baton; if states want to give plaintiffs additional time, that is their business. Some states do—e.g., Illinois, which tolls its statute of limitations during the entire bankruptcy proceeding, Ill, Rev. Stat. ch. 110 para. 13-216." Illinois is the same as Washington—it tolls the statute of limitations when commencement of an action is "stayed by injunction or a statutory prohibition."

In Spokane County v. Prescott, 19 Wash. 418 (1898), a county treasurer waited over three years to commence an action against the former treasurer for sums due. *Id.* at 418-19. The treasurer argued he was under a "disability" to sue until authority was procured from the superior court to commence the action. *Id.* at 424-25. The Court, however, found that the cause of action accrued when liability arose. There was no injunction or statutory prohibition at issue, and tolling was not discussed or addressed.

In *Bennett v. Thorne*, 36 Wash. 253 (1904), the Court similarly dealt with accrual of a cause of action, not tolling. The Court held that the action accrued when the bank became insolvent. *Id.* at 271. It further held was no requirement for a decree ordering an assessment on behalf of the creditors, before filing suit. *Id.*

In *Jones v. Jacobson*, 45 Wn.2d 265 (1954), there was similarly no tolling at issue, and the court determined that the right of action accrued when the party could have demanded possession of personal property.

In Douglas County v Grant County, 98 Wash. 355, 361 (1917), the Court held there was no injunction against Douglas

County enjoining it from suing Grant County, because the injunction was only against Grant County.

Similarly, in *Del Guzzi Constr. Co. v. Global Northwest*, 105 Wn.2d 878, 885 (1986), no statutory or contractual prohibition prevented the subject action at any time within the statute of limitation. The Court determined that Global knew of the inability to compact soil earlier, and that its cause of action accrued in 1976. *Id.* at 884.

The Court of Appeals' decision is also consistent with *Hinchman v. Anderson*, 32 Wash. 198 (1903). There, the Court dealt with a statute that mandated that a plaintiff shall not proceed to foreclose while prosecuting any other action for the same debt. *Id.* at 205. The Court determined that the statute prevented the plaintiff from splitting his cause of action and maintaining two separate actions for the same debt at the same time—it did not prevent the plaintiff from making all the parties to the notes parties to the action, and proceeding in one action. *Id.* at 206. Therefore, tolling did not apply. *Id.* at 207. The Court noted, in fact, that statutory tolling *does apply* in cases where, for some reason *beneficial to the debtor, the*

commencement of the action is prohibited. Id. at 206. The Court's decision in *Hinchman* is consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision.

Merceri conflates a procedural step required prior to commencing an action, such as those discussed above, as "injunctions" and/or "statutory prohibitions." Despite RCW 4.16.230 being unconditional, she argues that there is a due diligence required for tolling to apply, and that, for over 100 years in Washington, a party has had a duty to initiate litigation to terminate an injunction or prohibition, such as an automatic stay, in a U.S. bankruptcy court in order for tolling to apply. Otherwise, she asserts, if it could have done so, the statute of limitations would simply continue to run.²

Merceri's argument conflicts with the plain meaning of RCW 4.16.230 and the nature of the automatic stay, which is more than a procedural step. Congress has described the automatic stay as follows:

 $^{^{2}}$ Merceri's argument is belied by the fact that, despite her insistence that this has been the state of the law in Washington for over one hundred years, there has never been a single case or controversy over the amount of equity in property to determine whether the statute of limitations continued to run, or not.

The automatic stay is one of the fundamental debtor protections provided by bankruptcy laws. It gives the debtor a breathing spell from his creditors. It stops all collection efforts, all harassment, and all foreclosure actions. It permits the debtor to attempt a repayment or reorganization plan, or simply to be relieved of the financial pressures that drove him into bankruptcy.

H.R. Rep. No. 595, 95th Cong., 1st Sess. 340 (1978), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5787, 5963, 6296-97.

Creditors who attempt to enforce their rights against a debtor or its property without first obtaining relief from stay may be held liable for damages for contempt of court. *See Johnston Envtl. Corp. v. Knight (In re Goodman)*, 991 F.2d 613, 620 (9th Cir. 1993)(holding that a corporation may recover civil contempt damages for an automatic stay violation). The stay is an actual statutory prohibition, and indeed, as characterized by the Court in *Hazel*, an injunction. *Hazel*, 135 Wn.2d at 60.

It is not a foregone conclusion that a motion for relief will be granted. 11 U.S.C. § 362(d) specifically gives the bankruptcy court multiple options "such as by terminating, annulling, modifying, or conditioning such stay." And 11 U.S.C. § 362(e) provides that the stay may be further extended by the bankruptcy court "for good cause." The burden to establish relief from stay is on the moving party, and includes obtaining and admitting opinion evidence in the bankruptcy court case, presented at a court hearing, regarding the value of the collateral. *See In re Lakeside Dev., LLC,* 2012 Bankr. Lexis 695, 2012 WL 619071. In Merceri's bankruptcy case, the bankruptcy trustee moved for a court order to sell the property, and the court granted the trustee's motion. CP 573-580. It allowed the trustee time to try and liquidate the collateral. As such, good cause existed for the stay to be extended.

As the Court in *Seamans v. Walgren,* 82 Wn.2d 771 (1973), explained and held, when a person is prevented from exercising his legal remedy by some positive rule of law, the time during which he is prevented from bringing suit is not to be counted against him, as reflected in RCW 4.16.230. *Id.* at 775. The federal bankruptcy stay is such a positive rule of law.

Regardless of whether or not Deutsche could have obtained relief from stay, there is no requirement in RCW 4.16.230, or elsewhere, that a creditor be unable to obtain relief from stay for tolling to apply. None of the cases relied upon by Merceri stand for such a proposition, because none deal with an injunction or a statutory prohibition. Accordingly, none of these cases conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, and this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with *Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*

In *Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, 180 Wash. App. 8 (2014), *review denied*, 181 Wn.2d 1007 9 (2014), the foreclosure trustee sent a notice of default in February, prior to Washington's Foreclosure Fairness Act ("FFA"), chapter 61.24 RCW. In March 2011, the trustee recorded a notice of sale. *Id.* at 10. The Watsons filed bankruptcy, which caused the sale to be postponed, and then canceled. *Id.* In July 2011, the FFA amended the Deeds of Trust Act ("DTA"), which changed and added requirements for a pre-foreclosure notice. *Id.* at 11. After the bankruptcy, in November 2011, the trustee recorded an "amended notice of sale," setting the sale on shortened time. *Id.* The trustee did not issue a new notice of default that complied with the new law. *Id.* The trustee argued that it need not comply with the new FFA requirements because the entire foreclosure process was "one continuous transaction." *Id.* at 13. The court disagreed. It noted that the trustee had no more than 120 days to continue the sale date, and after that, the DTA required a new notice. *Id.* at 15. The court held that, regardless of the fact that the notice was titled "amended," the new notice requirements of the FFA then applied. *Id.*

The court's decision in *Watson* is irrelevant to any issue raised in the present case. The court in *Watson* does not address "timely lifting the bankruptcy stay" in any manner. Lifting the stay is not a "DTA remedy."³

³ Merceri argues that tolling for nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings is an "unresolved issue in this appeal." *See* Petition, p. 9, fn 5. The issue is not unresolved, rather it is moot given that tolling due to the bankruptcy stay alone made Deutsche's judicial foreclosure within the statute of limitations. *Merceri v. Deutsche Bank AG*, 2 Wash. App. 2d 143, 154 n.7, 408 P.3d 1140, 1146 (2018). None of Merceri's arguments regarding nonjudicial proceedings are relevant because the Court of Appeals' never reached the issue. The bankruptcy stay prohibited all foreclosure actions, whether nonjudicial or judicial. In any event, Division 1 has held that nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings, even if not completed, toll the statute of limitations for 120 days beyond the original sale date, even when the trustee does not exercise his ability to continue the sale. *Erickson v. America's Wholesale Lender*, No. 77742-4-I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 811, at *10 (Ct. App. Apr. 16, 2018)(unpub.).

Accordingly, the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any other decision of the Court of Appeals.⁴

C. The Court should deny review because the case does not present a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States, and any such claims were waived.

To the extent Merceri's constitutional claims are viable, she waived them. "Failure to raise an issue before the trial court generally precludes a party from raising it on appeal. This rule affords the trial court the opportunity to rule correctly upon a matter before it can be presented upon appeal." *New Meadows Holding Co. v Wash. Water Power Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 495, 498, 687 P.2d 212 (1984)(citation omitted). Here, Merceri never raised a constitutional issue at any point in this case until her petition for review to this Court.

⁴ The request for this Court to take judicial notice of a document never filed in the trial court is not appropriate and should be denied. The 2012 notice of discontinuance is also irrelevant. The decision of the Court of Appeals held the statute of limitation was tolled while the automatic stay was in effect, and the method and manner of renoting the trustee's sale after the stay was terminated is irrelevant to anything in the Court of Appeals' decision. Further, neither the court in *Jackson v. Quality Loan Service Corp.*, 186 Wn. App. 838, 844 (2015), *review denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1011 (2015), nor ER 201 permits this Court to review additional evidence not in the record by simply attaching it to petition for review. RAP 9.11.

The decision of the Court of Appeals did not "usurp the Legislature's Article II authority" by "amending" RCW 4.16.230. See Petition for Review, p. 16. The statute provides that when the commencement of an action is stayed by injunction or statutory prohibition, the time of the continuance of the injunction or prohibition shall not be a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action. The Court of Appeals held that the automatic stay is such a statutory prohibition. It did not amend the statute. Despite asserting that the decision violated the Washington constitution, Merceri has provided no authority for the same, and accordingly it need not be considered for this reason as well. McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp., 113 Wash. 2d 701, 705 (1989). The argument is frivolous and does not provide any basis for this Court to accept review.

Similarly, the decision of the Court of Appeals did not "violate federal preemption." *See* Petition for Review, p. 17. Federal law protects creditors like Deutsche so that the automatic stay does not render claims time-barred and unenforceable under states' statutes of limitations. 11 U.S.C. § 108(c) allows thirty days after the

stay terminates to file an action, even if the state statute of limitations ran during the automatic stay. It further allows states to employ additional tolling periods due to the automatic stay. If state law fixes a period of commencing a civil action on a claim against the debtor, such period does not expire until the later of: (1) the end of such period including any suspension of such period; or (2) 30 days after termination of the stay. 11 U.S.C. § 108(c); And see e.g., Koyle v. Sand Canyon Corp., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 29616 (D. Utah Mar. 8, 2016)(after recognizing that the "suspension of such period" language in 108(c)(1) to be a reference to state or federal tolling statutes, and then applying Utah's tolling statute, the court then applied Utah's statute of limitations tolling statute [nearly identical to RCW 4.16.230] to toll the statute of limitations during the entire period of the automatic stay.) 5

⁵ Merceri's reliance upon *Butner v. United States*, 440 U.S. 48 (1979) is misplaced. The Supreme Court held that the determination of the validity and extent of a mortgagee's interest in the assets of a bankruptcy estate, including an interest in rents generated by the mortgaged property, *is governed by state law. Id.* at 54. Nor does tolling under state law provide a "windfall." As the Washington Supreme Court stated, "tolling provisions, by nature, exist to assure all persons subject to a particular statute of limitations *enjoy the full benefit of the limitation period.*" *Rivas v. Overlake Hop. Med. Ctr.*,

Thus, § 108(c) specifically permits state law statutes of limitation and tolling provisions to extend the time a creditor has to seek relief against a debtor once the bankruptcy proceeding terminates. Federal law permits, rather than preempts, state law in this regard. Accordingly, this case presents no constitutional preemption issue.

D. The Court should deny review because the case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

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